RECEIVED

Nov 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 24-ALJ-30-0067-CC

Appellate Case No. 2025-000735

DoorDash, Inc., Appellant,

v.

City of Anderson, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Rick Reames III (SC Bar No. 68327)
Jim Rourke (SC Bar No. 79879)
Nikki Wooten (SC Bar No. 73594)
MAYNARD NEXSEN PC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Zachry T. Gladney (SC Bar No. 74789)
Alston & Bird LLP
90 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10016

Kathleen S. Cornett (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Alston & Bird LLP
One Atlantic Center

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the ALC err in concluding that the ordinance does not require a business to be physically present in the City of Anderson before a business license tax can be imposed?**
- II. Did the ALC err in its application of the *Travelscape* decision, where such decision was based upon the imposition of a state sales tax rather than a local business license tax and encompassed distinguishable facts?**
- III. Does the ALC’s decision result in absurd results by authorizing South Carolina municipalities to impose a business license tax on businesses that profit “indirectly” from a third-party transaction?**

INTRODUCTION

This case arises from Respondent City of Anderson’s (“City” or “Anderson”) improper assessment of business license tax (the “Assessment”) against Appellant DoorDash, Inc. (“DoorDash”) for the 2022 and 2023 tax years (the “Assessment Period”). In South Carolina, a statute (or ordinance) may impose tax upon a taxpayer, but only if it *clearly applies* to such taxpayer. If any doubt arises as to whether the tax may be imposed upon a taxpayer, and if the taxpayer’s reasonable interpretation demonstrates that the statute excludes imposition of the tax on the taxpayer, then the taxpayer’s interpretation *must* prevail.

DoorDash operates an online platform using web-based technology that connects independent contractors, local restaurants or other local businesses, and consumers to allow for the purchase and delivery of goods from participating restaurants and other businesses. It is undisputed that DoorDash did not operate within the City: it did not have an office or place of business in the City, did not employ any individuals in the City, did not maintain any vehicles in the City, and did not perform any services within the City during the Assessment Period. Nevertheless and contrary to statutory authority and case law, the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) erroneously concluded that DoorDash was subject to the business license tax

imposed by the City pursuant to Anderson Code Ord. § 26-36. Based on these undisputed facts, the Assessment is improper because DoorDash did not engage in business within the City for purposes of Anderson Code Ord. § 26-36 and therefore was not subject to the City's business license tax. Accordingly, DoorDash respectfully requests this Court to reverse the ALC's decision and conclude that the City's Ordinance requires that a business must engage in business activities physically within the City before the business license tax can be imposed on such business's activity.

To conclude otherwise, as the ALC did, is not only inconsistent with authority, but also leads to an absurd result: the City's business license tax becomes untethered and unconstrained, applying to an *unlimited* number of businesses, many only tangentially connected to the City. Businesses across the world become subject to the City's business license regime, so long as *their customers* are located in Anderson. Consider the magazine located in Charleston which never sends its employees to the City but receives advertising revenue from the restaurant in these transactions. Consider further the Chinese manufacturer selling disposable containers to the Anderson restaurant for use with To-Go orders, whose employees never step foot *in the United States*, never mind the City, but which profits indirectly from the resident business's activity. As discussed more fully in Section III below, if one hundred years of precedent requiring physical presence falls as a result of this case, the floodgates of business license taxation surely will open.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

DoorDash requested a contested case hearing before the ALC pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600 and S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-410(C) to review a business license tax assessment issued to DoorDash for the Assessment Period. (R. p. 12; ALC Order on Motions for Summary Judgment ("Order"), p. 1). DoorDash challenged the assessments and penalties and sought a refund of the

payments made under protest. (R. p. 12; ALC Order, p. 1). DoorDash and the City filed cross motions for summary judgment on September 20, 2024, and each party filed a response in opposition to the other's motion on November 4, 2024. (R. p. 13; ALC Order, p. 2). The ALC held a hearing on the motions on December 11, 2024. (R. p. 13; ALC Order, p. 2). Counsel for both parties attended the hearing. (R. p. 13; ALC Order, p. 2). Neither party objected to the ALC's consideration of the exhibits submitted with the parties' motions and responses. (R. p. 13; ALC Order, p. 2).

On February 7, 2025, the ALC issued its Order on Motions for Summary Judgment and for purposes of this appeal, the ALC concluded the City's ordinance does not require physical presence as a prerequisite to assessment of a business license tax.¹ (R. p. 52; ALC Order, p. 41). Further, the ALC "did not reach the question of whether DoorDash can be considered to be physically present in Anderson." (R. p. 52; ALC Order, p. 41). DoorDash moved for reconsideration on February 14, 2025. (R. p. 2; ALC Reconsideration Order, p. 2). The City filed its opposition to the motion to reconsider on February 24, 2025. (R. p. 2; ALC Reconsideration Order, p. 2). The ALC denied the motion on March 17, 2025, and DoorDash filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court on April 14, 2025. (R. p. 10; ALC Reconsideration Order, p. 10).

¹ The ALC also considered DoorDash's constitutional arguments related to the Commerce Clause. However, DoorDash does not raise any constitutional arguments in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

DoorDash operates an online platform² (the “Platform”) using web-based technology that connects independent contractors, local restaurants and other local businesses, and consumers.³ (R. pp. 14, 79, 84-85; ALC Order, p. 3; Merrigan Affidavit ¶ 4; DoorDash Consumer Terms and Conditions (“CT&C”), § 2⁴; *see also* Decision of City of Anderson, dated Feb. 21, 2024 (“City Decision”), at 1 (R. p. 464).) This Platform connects participating restaurants to their customers, allowing customers to place orders fulfilled directly by the restaurant. (R. p. 14; Order, p. 3). DoorDash operates its business from its headquarters in San Francisco and other locations where it has employees. (R. pp. 14, 79; Order, p. 3; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 5.) During the Assessment Period, DoorDash had no place of business or employees in the City. (R. pp. 14, 79, 122-24, 126, 127, 383;2-5, 362:16-18, 363:7-8, 19-21; Order, p. 3; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 5-7; §§ 2, 3, 6, 9 of Independent Contractor Agreement; Hr’g Tr. 40:2-5; 19:16-18; 20:7-8, 19-21).

During the Assessment Period, DoorDash had agreements with restaurants in the City, and these restaurants advertised their food and goods through the Platform. (R. p. 14; Order, p. 3). Customers ordered and paid for goods from participating restaurants through the Platform. (R. p. 14; Order, p. 3). DoorDash also had agreements with local businesses or individuals, referred to as “Dashers”, that provided delivery services between the restaurant and customer based on

² The DoorDash Platform may be accessed via traditional computer and internet browser as well as through a dedicated software application available for use on smart phones and tablets. (R. p. 14, n. 4; Order, p. 3, n. 4).

³ During the Assessment Period, DoorDash facilitated transactions for some non-restaurant merchants, such as convenience, drug and grocery stores. Because the vast majority of the merchants on the Platform during the Assessment Period were restaurants, for convenience, this Brief refers to restaurants in general when describing merchants.

⁴ The terms are identical in all material respects to the terms in effect throughout the Assessment Period.

communications received through DoorDash’s “Dasher App.” (R. p. 14; Order, p. 3). When a customer ordered food through the Platform from a restaurant located within the City, that order was sent to the restaurant for fulfillment. (R. pp 14, 79, 88; Order, p. 3; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 8; CT&C § 6(a) (“DoorDash provides the Services to facilitate the transmission of orders by Users to Merchants.”)). The restaurant prepared the food to fulfil the order. (R. pp. 79, 88, 379:18-19; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 9; CT&C §6(a) (“You agree that the goods that you purchase will be prepared by the Merchant you have selected.”); Hr’g Tr. 36:18-19). DoorDash did not prepare food or sell food within the City. (R. pp. 379:18-19, 80; Hr’g Tr. 36:18-19; Merrigan Aff. ¶¶ 10-11). Local restaurants prepared food and transferred title to the food to the customer at the restaurant’s location when either the customer or the Dasher picked it up. (R. p. 88; CT&C § 6). DoorDash never took title to the food, and it was not responsible to consumers for issues with the food sold by restaurants. (R. p. 88; CT&C, § 6).

During the Assessment Period, DoorDash did not deliver food within the City. (R. pp. 363:19-24, 379:22-23, 80, 88; Hr’g Tr. 20:19-24; 36:22-23; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 12-14; CT&C § 6 (“DoorDash is not in the delivery business, does not provide delivery services, and is not a common carrier.”)). The customer may elect to pick up the food at the restaurant’s location where offered by the particular restaurant. (R. pp. 84-85, 82; CT&C § 2; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 14). If the customer requested delivery, the Platform identified a Dasher, who is an independent contractor courier, to pick up the order and deliver it to the customer. (R. pp. 14, 80, 88, 464; Order, p. 3; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 13; Consumer T&Cs § 6(a); City Decision at 1). Dashers may accept or decline a specific delivery. (R. p. 14; Order, p. 3). If the Dasher accepted the specific delivery, the Dasher delivered the food to the customer based on delivery instructions provided by the customer through the Platform. (R. pp. 80, 88; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 13; CT&C at §6(a).

When a customer requested delivery, the Dasher had previously consented to the Independent Contractor Agreement, which provides the following:

Contractor understands and expressly agrees that **they are not an employee of DoorDash** or any restaurant, other business, or individual using the DoorDash Platform and that **they are performing Contracted Services on behalf of themselves and their business, not on behalf of DoorDash**. Contractor understands that: (i) they are free to select the times they wish to be available on the DoorDash Platform to receive Contracted Service Opportunities; (ii) they are free to negotiate their compensation by, among other things, accepting or rejecting the Contracted Service Opportunities transmitted through the DoorDash Platform, and can make such decisions to maximize their opportunity to profit; and (iii) they have the sole right to control the manner in which Contracted Services are performed and the means by which those Contracted Services are completed in accordance with applicable laws.

(R. p. 122; Independent Contractor Agreement, p. 2, ¶1) (emphasis added).

The restaurant received the price of the food through third-party payment processors. (R. p. 80; Merrigan Aff. ¶ 15). DoorDash charged customers certain fees for use of the Platform. (R. pp. 14-15, 93; Order, pp. 3-4; CT&C, § 12(e)).

During the Assessment Period, DoorDash did not in any way operate the Platform from within the City. (R. pp. 14, 79, 357:13-18, 362:16-19; Order, p. 3; Merrigan Aff., ¶ 7; Hr'g Tr. 14:13-18; 19:16-19). DoorDash did not engage in any business activities within the City. (R. pp. 79-80; Merrigan Aff. ¶¶6-7, 10-12). DoorDash's business – the operation of a Platform – was limited to connecting and facilitating transactions among customers, restaurants, and Dashers. (R. p. 79; Merrigan Aff. ¶ 4). That business was run completely outside of the City from its principal place of business in San Francisco and other offices, none of which are in the City. (R. p. 79; Merrigan Aff. ¶ 5).

During the Assessment Period, DoorDash had agreements with 94 restaurants within the City. (R. p. 15; Order, p. 4). DoorDash received gross income of \$1,940,388.10 in 2022 and \$2,504,028.90 in 2023 from merchant commissions charged to restaurants in the City. (R. p. 15; *Id.*). Based on the gross income received in 2022 and 2023, the City assessed DoorDash \$14,290.80 in business license tax and \$4,130.70 in penalties for years 2022 and 2023. (R. p. 15; *Id.*). The Assessment in this matter *does not* include gross income or business license tax derived from the food prepared and sold by restaurants, as that business license tax is paid by the restaurant whose business activity occurs within the City. (R. pp. 77, 118; Ex. A to Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support, p. 2; Ex. D to Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support, p. 2). The Assessment in this matter also does not include payments made to Dashers to deliver food to the restaurants’ customers. (R. p. 15).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The ALC’s Final Order is subject to judicial review pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2019) under the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”). Under the APA, the applicable standard of review is in § 1-23-610(B), which states that this Court may reverse or modify the Final Order where the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

This Court reviews questions of law, including the proper interpretation of a statute, “*de novo*” and “without any deference to the court below.” *Town of Summerville v. City of North*

Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008); *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011); *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). The City's business license tax ordinance (the "Ordinance") is a tax imposition statute, and if the Court determines the Ordinance's language is ambiguous, then the Court must resolve any doubt in DoorDash's favor. *Alltel Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 321, 731 S.E.2d 869 (2012). "[W]here the language relied upon to bring a particular person within a tax law is ambiguous or is reasonably susceptible of an interpretation that will exclude such person, then the person will be excluded, any substantial doubt being resolved in his favor." *Id.* at 321, 731 S.E.2d at 873.

When interpreting ordinances, "words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning." *Olds v. City of Goose Creek*, 424 S.C. 240, 249, 818 S.E.2d 5, 10 (2018). However, when there is a degree of ambiguity or disagreement, "an ordinance requiring a business license or occupation tax **must be construed liberally in favor of the citizen** and strictly against the government" unless he comes "clearly" within the terms of the ordinance. *Pee Dee Chair Co v. City of Camden* 165 S.C. 86, 162 S.E. 771, 772 (1932) (emphasis added); *Triplett v. City of Chester*, 209 S.C. 455, 462, 40 S.E.2d 684, 687 (1946). Licensing ordinances as tax measures may not be extended in scope beyond the clear import of its language. *City of Columbia v. Niagara Fire Ins. Co.*, 249 S.C. 388, 391, 154 S.E.2d 674, 675 (1967). Interpretation of business licenses ordinances are questions of law; thus, the court is free to decide these issues without any deference to the lower courts. *Olds*, 424 S.C. at 246, 818 S.E.2d at 9.

ARGUMENT

I. The ALC Erred in Concluding that the Ordinance Does Not Require a Business to be Physically Present in the City of Anderson Before a Business License Tax can be Imposed.

The Ordinance prohibits the City from levying a business license tax on businesses that do not engage in business activities physically within the City. (R. pp. 269-70; Anderson Code of Ordinances (“Anderson Code Ord.”) Chapter 26, Article II, §§ 26-36 and 26-37). For the reasons set forth more fully below, the ALC’s decision must be reversed as it erred in interpreting the Ordinance: (1) its interpretation of the City’s business license ordinance conflicts with the plain and unambiguous language of the Ordinance, which provides that a business license tax is due from those doing business “in whole or in part within the limits of the City of Anderson” on the business’s “gross income,” which means “the gross receipts or gross revenue of a business, received or accrued, for one calendar or fiscal year collected or to be collected from business done within a taxing jurisdiction;”⁵ and (2) even if the Ordinance is ambiguous, the ALC erred by failing to construe the Ordinance under this Court’s well-established rules of statutory construction favoring a taxpayer’s reasonable interpretation of the law.

A. The ALC Erred by Ignoring the Plain and Unambiguous Language of the Ordinance Requiring a Business to be Physically Present in the City.

i. Statutory and Ordinance Overview, Generally

S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-30 grants municipalities the power to levy “a business license tax on gross income.” *See Olds*, 424 S.C. at 246, 818 S.E.2d at 9 (recognizing § 5-7-30 authorizes a municipality to levy a business license tax on gross income). To that end, in 2020, the South Carolina General Assembly enacted Act 176, “Business License Tax Standardization Act” (the “Act” or “Act 176”), effective January 1, 2022. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400 *et seq.* (Supp. 2024).

⁵ *See* S.C. Code § 6-1-400(E)(1)(a); Anderson Code Ord. §§ 26-36 and 26-37.

To ensure standardization and uniformity in the area of business license taxation by municipalities, the legislature requires that “a county or municipality that levies a business license tax must comply with the provisions of this article” unless otherwise specifically provided for by state law. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(A)(1). Act 176 also requires that a business license tax must be computed on a taxpayer’s gross income as defined by the Act:

(a) “Gross income” means the gross receipts or gross revenue of a business, received or accrued, for one calendar or fiscal year collected or to be collected from business done **within a taxing jurisdiction**. For taxing jurisdictions in which the person or business has a domicile, business done within that taxing jurisdiction shall include all gross receipts or revenue received or accrued by such person or business, excepting income earned outside of the taxing jurisdiction on which a license tax is paid by the person or business to some other taxing jurisdiction and fully reported to the taxing jurisdiction. For taxing jurisdictions in which the person or business does not have a domicile, business done within that taxing jurisdiction shall include only gross receipts or revenue received or accrued within such taxing jurisdiction. In all cases, if the taxpayer pays a business license tax to another county or municipality, then the taxpayer’s gross income for the purpose of computing the tax within the taxing jurisdiction must be reduced by the amount of gross income taxed in the other county or municipality.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(E)(1)(a) (emphasis added).

After the enactment of Act 176, the City adopted a new business license ordinance codified at Anderson Code Ord. Chapter 26, Article II, which complies with the requirements of the Act, including adopting the uniform definition of “gross income.” The City’s business license ordinance requires that:

“[e]very person engaged or intending to engage in any business, calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage, **in whole or in part within the limits of the City of Anderson, South Carolina**, is required to pay an annual license tax for the privilege of doing business and obtain a business license as herein provided.”

Anderson Code Ord. § 26-36, *et seq.* (Nov. 8, 2021, as amended) (emphasis added). As noted in the ALC Order (R. pp. 17-18), the following definitions in the City's Ordinance are also relevant:

Business means any business, calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage, either directly or indirectly.

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