**RECEIVED**

**Nov 20 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 24-ALJ-30-0067-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2025-000735

DourDash, Inc., ..... Appellant,

v.

City of Anderson, ..... Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Virginia P. Bozeman (S.C. Bar No. 104939)  
Pope Flynn, LLC  
1411 Gervais St., Suite 300  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 354-4947  
gbozeman@popeflynn.com

J. Franklin McClain (S.C. Bar No. 3735)  
Rame L. Campbell (S.C. Bar No. 13981)  
City Attorney's Office, Anderson, South Carolina

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

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. THE ALC PROPERLY CONCLUDED THE BUSINESS LICENSE ORDINANCE DOES NOT REQUIRE PHYSICAL PRESENCE, BUT EVEN IF IT DOES, DOORDASH HAS A PHYSICAL PRESENCE INSIDE THE CITY.**

DoorDash first asks this Court to consider whether the ALC erred when concluding the Business License Ordinance does not require the physical presence of a business for it to become subject to the business license tax. In support of this argument, DoorDash asserts the ALC's conclusion conflicts with the plain language of the Business License Ordinance. Alternatively, DoorDash argues that *if* the language of the Business License Ordinance is ambiguous, then the ALC erred when failing to construe that ambiguity in favor of the taxpayer by relieving it of the obligation to pay the business license tax.

Not only does DoorDash misrepresent the conclusion reached by the ALC in its Final Order, but it inserts a physical presence requirement into the Standardization Act and Business License Ordinance that does not exist, misconstrues decades of common law to include a physical

presence requirement that has never been articulated and is conspicuously absent from the holding of any of the cases cited, and fails to include a complete statutory construction analysis when addressing the potential ambiguity of the Business License Ordinance.

As pertinent here, in its Final Order, the ALC concluded:

For the reasons discussed below, the Court agrees with the City. The Court concludes both that the City's ordinance does not require a physical presence and that, even if a physical presence is required, that requirement is satisfied. It is the opinion of the Court that DoorDash is doing business in the City for the purposes of a business license tax.

(Final Order, R. p. 21). This ruling is supported by the plain language of the Business License Ordinance, the plain language of the Standardization Act, and the manner in which courts in South Carolina have always treated the assessment of taxes on the privilege of conducting business within its municipalities.

A. **The Final Order is consistent with almost 100 years of South Carolina law authorizing business license taxation.**

A general overview of the history and development of business license taxation in South Carolina is not only necessary to understanding the issues before this Court, but it reveals the inherent flaw in DoorDash's argument – physical presence has never been the standard used by South Carolina's taxing jurisdictions and courts when deciding whether the activities of a business inside a municipality are sufficient to subject it to a business license tax. Instead, for almost a century, the primary inquiry has been the intensity or continuity of commercial activity in the taxing jurisdiction. *Pee Dee Chair Co. v. City of Camden*, 165 S.C. 86, 162 S.E. 771, 773 (1932) (“the carrying on of a business necessarily involves the idea of successive acts, continuity of habit”) (internal citations omitted). Indeed, there is not a single case, statute, or ordinance establishing such a requirement on the assessment of privilege taxes in South Carolina. *See, e.g., Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 504 U.S. 298, 314, 112 S.Ct. 1904, 119 L.Ed.2d 91 (1992), *overruled*

by *South Dakota v. Wayfair*, 585 U.S. 162, 188, 138 S.Ct. 2080, 201 E.Ed.2d 403 (2018) (noting, the United States Supreme Court has never articulated a physical-presence requirement for the imposition of a tax on the privilege of conducting interstate business); *Tyler Pipe v. Wash. State Dep't of Revenue*, 483 U.S. 232, 250, 107 S.Ct. 2810, 2821, 97 L.Ed. 2d 199 (1987) (due to its utilization of independent contractors, the Supreme Court found the company conducted business in the state, thus could be subject to its business and occupation tax, even though it manufactured its products out-of-state, did not have an office in the state, owned no property within the state, and had no employees in the state).

South Carolina law authorizes local governments to “levy a business license tax on gross income.” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-30. The business license tax is an excise tax. *See Olds v. City of Goose Creek*, 424 S.C. 240, 246, 818 S.E.2d 5, 9 (2018); *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Kigre, Inc.*, 408 S.C. 647, 649, 760 S.E.2d 103, 103 (2014). The tax is imposed “on the privilege of doing business, and no prohibition against the utilization of excise taxes exists.” *Carter v. Linder*, 303 S.C. 119, 122, 399 S.E.2d 423, 424 (1990); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400 (defining “business license” as “a license issued to a taxpayer by a county or municipality for the privilege of doing business in that county or municipality”) (emphasis added).

Until very recently, the South Carolina Code was virtually silent on business licensing, so the laws applicable to business licensing arose from court decisions and local ordinances. Then, in 2020, the South Carolina General Assembly passed the Standardization Act, which aimed to simplify the business license process across the State by mandating a uniform method of calculating business license taxes based on gross income and setting a standard renewal date for all businesses. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400. It also established a central online portal for businesses

to use when applying for and renewing licenses across different municipalities, reducing administrative burdens. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(J)(1).

Before a municipality may require a person or entity to have a business license, the person or entity must be “doing business” within the territorial jurisdiction of the municipality. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(A)(2)(a). The Anderson City Code expounds on what it means to do business within its municipal boundaries by requiring a business license for “[e]very person engaged or intending to engage in any business, calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage, in whole or in part within the limits of the City of Anderson, South Carolina.” (Anderson City Code § 26-36, R. p. 269). The associated business license tax is then calculated based on the gross income derived by such business for the calendar year preceding the May 1 statutory due date. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(B)(2).

By design and consistent with the purpose of each, the Standardization Act and Anderson City Code define “gross income” similarly. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(E)(1)(a); Anderson City Code § 26-37. (R. pp. 269-270). Both definitions differentiate the gross income of businesses domiciled in the taxing jurisdiction from the gross income of businesses domiciled elsewhere that simply receive or accrue gross receipts or revenue within the jurisdiction. *Id.* Thus, the plain and unambiguous language of the Standardization Act makes it clear that physical presence within the taxing jurisdiction is not required for a business to become subject to the tax. *Id.*

Moreover, although the distinction between independent contractors and employees is important in some contexts (for example, tort liability, workers’ compensation, and payroll tax treatment), neither the Standardization Act nor the Anderson City Code make this distinction for business licensing purposes. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 6-1-400, *et seq.*; Anderson City Code §§ 26-36 to 26-50. (R. pp. 263-278). Both independent contractors and employees acting on behalf

of a business are its agents, and their activities on behalf of the principal are equally sufficient to establish that the business is doing business within the jurisdiction. *See Travelscape, LLC v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 391 S.C. 89, 106, 705 S.E.2d 28, 37 (2011) (holding that an online platform operated out-of-state conducts business inside the state by contracting with hotels with whom it does not have an agency relationship); citing *Tyler Pipe*, 483 U.S. at 250, 107 S.Ct. at 2821, 97 L.Ed. 2d 199 (1987) (through its utilization of independent contractors, the company conducted business in the state even though it did not have an office or employees in the state); *Scripto Inc. v. Carson*, 362 U.S. 207, 213, 80 S.Ct. 619, 622, 4 L.Ed.2d 660 (1960) (the use of independent contractor sales representatives, rather than true employees, is sufficient for a company to establish that it is doing business for tax purposes).

Using the clear parameters of the Standardization Act and applicable local ordinance, the determination of whether a party is “doing business” in a certain jurisdiction is fact dependent. *See Wrenn Bail Bond Serv., Inc. v. City of Hanahan*, 335 S.C. 26, 29, 515 S.E.2d 521, 523 (1999) (internal citation omitted). The primary inquiry is the intensity or continuity of commercial activity in the municipality. *Pee Dee Chair Co.*, 162 S.E. at 773 (“the carrying on of a business necessarily involves the idea of successive acts, continuity of habit”) (internal citations omitted). Relying on *Pee Dee Chair Company*, South Carolina courts have consistently held that a single or isolated activity that is merely incidental to the essential business of a company within the taxing jurisdiction is not “doing business” for business license tax purposes. *See, e.g., Wrenn Bail Bond*, 335 S.C. at 27, 515 S.E.2d at 522 (the single act of obtaining a bail bond from a court located inside the taxing jurisdiction for the purpose of providing bail bondsman services to a resident incarcerated outside of the taxing jurisdiction did not constitute “doing business”). South Carolina courts, however, have consistently held that businesses are not required to conduct all essential

business within the taxing municipality before being subject to that jurisdiction's business license tax. *See, e.g., Triplett v. City of Chester*, 209 S.C. 455, 461-63, 40 S.E. 2d 684, 686-87 (1946) (requiring a general contractor with a business office in the taxing jurisdiction to pay a business license tax even though all general contracting work physically occurred outside the jurisdiction). For these reasons, the regular delivery of goods or provision of services within a municipality, regardless of physical presence inside the taxing jurisdiction or elsewhere, constitutes "doing business" within that municipality for business license tax purposes. *See, e.g., Crosswell & Co. v. Town of Bishopville*, 172 S.C. 26, 172 S.E. 698, 699 (1934) (finding one-to-two trips from its principal place of business into the taxing municipality once a week for two years for the purpose of delivering goods constitutes "doing business" for business license tax purposes).

DoorDash unconvincingly attempts to twist the holdings of *Pee Dee Chair Company* and its progeny to imply that a company must have some sort of physical presence through a brick-and-mortar office, employees, or other in-person physical activity in order to subject itself to local business license taxation. Not only is this untrue, but it is contrary to the "successive acts" and "continuity of habit" required by *Pee Dee Chair Company*. Indeed, using physical presence as the benchmark that DoorDash insists applies would have resulted in the assessment of a business license tax against *Pee Dee Chair Company* as the result of its single, isolated delivery within the municipal limits of the taxing jurisdiction. *Pee Dee Chair Co.*, 162 S.E. at 773. Likewise, the bail bondsman in *Wrenn Bail Bond* who conducted only one business transaction inside the municipal boundaries of the taxing jurisdiction would have instead been subject to that jurisdiction's business license tax. *Wrenn Bail Bond*, 335 S.C. at 27, 515 S.E.2d at 522. Such a result would usurp a century of common law and contradict the plain language and intent of the Business License Ordinance and Standardization Act.

In Section III of DoorDash’s brief, it pulls the word “indirect” from the Business License Ordinance and Final Order and applies it, wholly out of context, to a long string of strained hypotheticals in which it alleges that affirming the Final Order will allow municipalities statewide to assess a business license tax against every business earning an indirect profit from third-party transactions, no matter how small and remote, sparked by consumer activity within the taxing jurisdiction, causing the absurd result of an endless chain of business license tax assessments across the globe against companies that have never had a physical presence in the community. Then, going back to the fictional physical presence requirement that is the basis for every argument asserted by DoorDash, the company again implores this Court to apply that physical presence standard here, despite the absence of supporting binding authority, all the while ignoring the ALC’s ruling that, even though it is not necessary per the plain language of the Business License Ordinance, DoorDash has a physical presence inside the City – a conclusion that was not raised by DoorDash in any of its issues on appeal and is now final.

The Final Order is consistent with the well-established common law principles that form the framework by which the Standardization Act and business license ordinances adopted pursuant to it, including the Business License Ordinance at issue, and the plain language used in those local and statutory authorities is interpreted. The Final Order is grounded on sound legal principles and has a solid and accurate legal basis. Accordingly, this Court must affirm the ALC’s conclusion that the Business License Ordinance does not contain a physical presence requirement and affirm the lower court’s entrance of summary judgment in favor of the City.

**B. The Final Order is consistent with the plain language of the Business License Ordinance.**

In its Final Order, the ALC found the language of the Business License Ordinance to be unambiguous and then properly interpreted the plain language of that ordinance, concluding it does not require a business to have a physical presence inside the City. (Final Order, R. pp. 27-29).

It is well-established that when the language of a statute is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the application of the standard rules of statutory interpretation is unwarranted. *Paschal v. State Election Comm'n*, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995); *Miller v. Doe*, 312 S.C. 444, 441 S.E.2d 319 (1994). The statutory terms, therefore, must be applied according to their literal meaning. *Paschal*, 317 S.C. at 436, 454 S.E.2d at 892; *Holley v. Mount Vernon Mills, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 320, 440 S.E.2d 373 (1994). In such circumstances, the court simply lacks the authority to look for or impose another meaning and may not resort to subtle or forced construction in an attempt to limit or expand a statute's scope. *Paschal*, 317 S.C. at 437, 454 S.E.2d at 892; *Berkebile v. Outen*, 311 S.C. 50, 426 S.E.2d 760 (1993).

The plain and unambiguous language of the Business License Ordinance is consistent with the plain and unambiguous language of the Standardization Act and gives the City the authority to assess and collect a business license tax from DoorDash. As explained *supra*, the General Assembly enacted the Standardization Act for the purpose of establishing a uniform system of calculating and collecting taxes levied on businesses for the privilege of doing business in the taxing jurisdiction. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 6-1-400, *et seq.* When doing so, through its definition of “gross income,” the General Assembly purposefully distinguished businesses domiciled in the taxing jurisdiction from business domiciled elsewhere that profit from activities conducted within the taxing jurisdiction. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(E)(1). The Standardization Act defines “gross income” as:

[T]he gross receipts or gross revenue of a business, received or accrued, for one calendar or fiscal year collected or to be collected from business done within a taxing jurisdiction. For taxing jurisdictions in which the person or business has a domicile, business done within that taxing jurisdiction shall include all gross receipts or revenue received or accrued by such person or business, excepting income earned outside of the taxing jurisdiction on which a license tax is paid by the person or business to some other taxing jurisdiction and fully reported to the taxing jurisdiction. For taxing jurisdictions in which the person or business does not have a domicile, business done within that taxing jurisdiction shall include only gross receipts or revenue received or accrued within such taxing jurisdiction. In all cases, if the taxpayer pays a business license tax to another county or municipality, then the taxpayer's gross income for the purpose of computing the tax within the taxing jurisdiction must be reduced by the amount of gross income taxed in the other county or municipality.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-400(E)(1)(a) (Emphasis added).

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